NO. 93581-5

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LARRY AND JUDITH HOFFMAN,

Appellants,

v.

ALASKA COPPER COMPANIES, INC., ET AL.,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW OF DEFENDANT AND RESPONDENT KETCHIKAN PULP COMPANY

David A. Shaw, WSBA #08788 Malika I. Johnson, WSBA #39608 WILLIAMS, KASTNER & GIBBS PLLC Attorney for Respondent Two Union Square 601 Union Street, Suite 4100 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 628-6600



5880010.1

ź

I. IDENTITY	OF RESPONDENT 1
II. COURT (DF APPEALS DECISION 1
III. ISSUES	PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 2
IV. STATEN	AENT OF THE CASE
V. ARGUMI	ENT 6
Α.	The Trial Court Correctly Determined that Alaska Law Governed Resolution of Mr. Hoffman's Case

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

Ketchikan Pulp Company (KPC) asks this Court to accept review of the decision designated in Part II.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

In an unpublished decision filed August 9, 2016, Division II of the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's summary judgment dismissal of plaintiffs' negligence/personal injury action even though the plaintiffs failed to present any evidence that their claims fell within one of the enumerated exceptions to Alaska's Statute of Repose, the operable law of the case.¹ On August 29, 2016, KPC filed a Motion for Reconsideration arguing that the Court of Appeals committed error by applying incorrect legal standards to their analysis.² The Court of Appeals signed an Order Denying Review on September 1, 2016. The Court of Appeals did not send KPC counsel a copy of the order denying reconsideration. A copy was obtained when KPC counsel called the Court of Appeals on October 13, 2016 to inquire as to the status of its

¹ A copy of the Court of Appeals decision is attached as Appendix A.

² A copy of the Motion for Reconsideration is attached as Appendix B.

motion for reconsideration and was told an order had been signed denying reconsideration. KPC counsel requested and was provided a copy of the order via email the same day.³

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the trial court correctly determine that Alaska law governed the resolution of Mr. Hoffman's claims when the actual facts considered by the trial court were not in dispute?

2. Did the trial court correctly determine that the Alaska Statute of Repose barred Mr. Hoffman's claims?

3. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding that the trial court dismissed plaintiff's claims pursuant to CR 12(b)(6) contrary to the clear rules set forth under CR 12(b)?

4. Did the Court of Appeals err in failing to apply a de novo review standard to the choice of law question?

5. Did the Court of Appeals err when it insisted⁴ on applying a CR 12(b)(6) standard in contravention of *United Food*

³ Declaration of Malika Johnson attached as Appendix C. A copy of the electronic transmission from Division II of the Court of Appeals is attached as Exhibit D.

& Commercial Workers Local Union 44, 103 Wn.2d 800, 802, 699 P.2d 217, 218 (1985).

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The underlying case is a personal injury action filed by plaintiffs alleging that Larry Hoffman developed mesothelioma after he was exposed to asbestos fibers carried home by his father from the KPC mill when he was a child from 1954-1966⁵. Mr. Hoffman was later a mill employee and asserted claims against General Electric alleging asbestos exposure as an employee. Plaintiffs' claims against KPC based on his time as an employee were barred by the Alaska Workers Compensation Act. Dismissal of those claims as to KPC was not opposed by plaintiffs.

Defendants initially brought a motion for application of Alaska law. (VRP March 13, 2015). Mr. Hoffman never worked in the State of Washington. There is no claim that Mr. Hoffman

⁴ Given its curt order on KPC's motion for reconsideration, the Court of Appeals continues to insist that CR 12(b)(6) is the operative rule, despite the fact that such a conclusion is both factually and legally incorrect.

⁵ The asbestos was allegedly brought home from the mill on his father Doyle's person and clothing. Mr. Hoffman makes a number of other exposure claims not relevant to KPC.

was ever exposed to asbestos, or any asbestos-containing products in the State of Washington. In fact, Mr. Hoffman moved to Washington in 2012, four years after he retired from the trades. (CP 103). KPC was incorporated in the State of Washington in 1947, prior to Alaskan Statehood. (CP 1367). Notwithstanding the fact that KPC was, by necessity, incorporated in the State of Washington, KPC was always domiciled and conducted all of its operations in Ketchikan, Alaska and the Tongass National Forest in Southeastern Alaska. Dave Kiffer, *Boom Town, Ketchikan in the 1950s*, SitNews, February 20, 2006 at 7.⁶ The purpose of the Mill was to bring economic infrastructure to the region, promote the employment of local Alaskans, and to exploit the natural resources of the Tongass National Forest.⁷

The trial court correctly ruled that Alaska law and, in particular, the Alaska Statute of Repose governed the resolution of

⁶ Electronic version available at

http://www.sitnews.us/kiffer/boomtown/021906_ketchikan_50.html.

⁷ "By the time the first bale of pulp left the new Ketchikan Pulp mill on July 1, 1954, Ketchikan had been changed irrevocably. A new economic engine had fired up and the era of year round jobs had finally reached Alaska's First City ... that all began in the mid-1950's and lasted for more than 40 years." *Id.*

plaintiffs' claims. (VRP March 13, 2015). KPC then brought a 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss Mr. Hoffman's claims based on the uncontroverted fact that his lawsuit was filed after the expiration of the time period provided for in the Alaska Statute of Repose. Plaintiffs opposed that motion by arguing that several exceptions to the Statute of Repose applied.⁸

In response, the trial court continued the CR 12(b)(6) motion, permitted further briefing and, in ruling, considered matters outside the pleadings. (VRP March 24, 2015 at 72). Under established Washington precedent, the original CR 12(b)(6) motion was converted into a CR 56 summary judgment motion.

[T]he following defenses may at the option of the pleader be made by motion: (6) failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted ... If, on motion asserting the defense numbered (6) to dismiss for failure of the pleading to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, matters outside the pleading are presented to and not excluded by the court, *the motion shall be treated* as one for summary judgment and disposed of as provided in rule 56, and all parties shall be given reasonable

⁸ The Alaska Statute of Repose excepts from its application claims based on *inter alia* defective products, prolonged exposure to hazardous wastes, gross negligence and foreign objects left in the body of no therapeutic or diagnostic value.

opportunity to present all material made pertinent to such a motion by rule 56.

CR 12(b)(emphasis added). If the trial court elects to consider facts and evidence outside of the pleadings, the onus is on the court to apply a CR 56 summary judgment standard, "the motion *shall* be treated as one for summary judgment." CR 12(b). Judge van Doorninck treated KPC and General Electric's Motion to Dismiss for Failure to State a Claim as summary judgement motions after she decided to consider evidence outside of pleadings. (VRP March 24, 2015 at 16). In accordance with the rule, the trial court specifically indicated the motion would be treated "like every other summary judgment." *Id.* In fact, the transcript for the following day is entitled: "Summary Judgment Proceeding." (VRP March 25, 2015 at 3).

V. ARGUMENT

A. The Trial Court Correctly Determined that Alaska Law Governed Resolution of Plaintiffs' Case

The trial court analyzed the relevant contacts between the State of Alaska, the State of Washington and the plaintiffs. Based on that analysis, the trial court correctly concluded that Alaska law should be applied.⁹ Mr. Hoffman was an Alaska resident during the relevant time period, all of his claimed asbestos exposures occurred in the State of Alaska, KPC's sole place of business was Ketchikan, Alaska and the Tongass National Forest, and, the mill was established pursuant to a long term timber lease with the Federal government in the Tongass to promote economic development in Southeastern Alaska. Mr. Hoffman's only contact with the State of Washington is that plaintiffs chose it as a place to retire and had lived there for approximately one year prior to Mr. Hoffman developing his disease. (CP 103). Under relevant Washington Supreme Court precedent on the subject of conflict of laws, the trial court's determination of the issue is unassailable. Johnson v. Spider Staging Corp., 87 Wn.2d 577, 581, 555 P.2d 997 (1976).

Under Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Laws § 145-146 (1971), the law of the place where the injury occurred is to be

-7-

⁹ Washington and Alaska laws differ in three material areas: liability, allocation of fault, and the Statutes of Repose. KPC and GE sought to have Alaska law applied in each area.

displaced only by a showing that some other jurisdiction has a more significant relationship. The significant relationship test looks to four factors: 1) the place of injury, 2) the place where the conduct causing the injury occurred, 3) the domicile of the parties, and 4) the place where the relationship is centered. Johnson, 87 Wn.2d at 581. The contacts are evaluated according to their relative importance with respect to the particular issue. Id. "The approach is not merely to count contacts, but rather to consider which contacts are most significant and to determine where these contacts are found." Southwell v. Widing Transportation, 101 Wn.2d 200, 204, 676 P.2d 477 (1984). "Under this rule, it is necessary to identify the crux or gravamen of the action to determine which contacts are relevant." Dairyland Ins. Co. v. State Farm Mut. Auto Ins. Co., 41 Wn.App. 26, 31, 701 P.2d 806 (1985). All of the factors which this Court has identified as considerations for determining choice of law issues favor the application of Alaska law. Mr. Hoffman's asbestos exposure occurred in the State of Alaska. KPC's alleged conduct occurred

-8-

in the State of Alaska. Both parties were Alaskan residents at the time of the alleged exposure. The relationship between KPC and plaintiffs was centered in Ketchikan, Alaska.

B. The Trial Court Correctly Concluded that the Alaska Statute of Repose Barred Plaintiffs' Claims

Following the trial court's determination that the Alaskan Statute of Repose governed plaintiffs' claims, KPC brought a 12(b)(6) motion seeking dismissal of those claims as time-barred. As noted above, the Judge van Doornick declined to rule on that motion, permitted further argument and evidence, and held a summary judgment hearing in which she determined that the Alaska Statute of Repose barred plaintiffs' claims. The gist of her opinion as to KPC was that none of the alleged exceptions to the Statute of Repose applied. The "defective product" exception did not apply because KPC was not a product seller, but rather a premises owner. The "hazardous waste" exception did not apply because asbestos is not a "hazardous waste" under Alaska law. The "medical malpractice" exception did not apply because this was not a case involving a medical device being left inside a patient. Finally, the "gross negligence" exception did not apply because there was no evidence of gross negligence and plaintiff counsel orally and in written briefing stated that his clients' claims against KPC sounded in "common law negligence."¹⁰

C. The Court of Appeals Determination that the Trial Court Dismissed Plaintiffs' Claims Pursuant to CR 12(b)(6) is Factually and Legally Wrong

The Court of Appeals opinion states: "The superior court dismissed Hoffman's case pursuant to CR 12(b)(6) after it determined that his claims were barred by Alaska's Statute of Repose." (Op. at 2). That statement is factually and legally wrong. It is factually incorrect because the court dismissed plaintiffs' claims pursuant to a summary judgment motion, after continuing defendants' 12(b)(6) motion to allow plaintiff counsel to present further briefing and evidence with respect to the applicability of claimed exceptions to the Alaska Statute of Repose. (VRP March 24 at 16; VRP March 25 at 3).

¹⁰ On Appeal, KPC argued that the trial court's application of the Alaska Statute of Repose was a choice of law determination which is an issue of law, reviewed de novo. *Seizer v. Sessions*, 132 Wn.2d 642, 650, 940 P.2d 261 (1997).

The Court of Appeals decision is contrary to the plain language of CR 12(b)(6) which specifically states that:

If, on motion asserting the defense numbered (6) to dismiss for failure of the pleading to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, matters outside the pleading are presented to and not excluded by the court, *the motion shall be treated* as one for summary judgment and disposed of as provided in rule 56, and all parties shall be given reasonable opportunity to present all material made pertinent to such a motion by rule 56.

The Court of Appeals decision is likewise contrary to its own authority and authority of this Court because the Court of Appeals, similar to the trial court, considered matters outside of the pleadings in reaching their decision.¹¹ Suliemann v. Lasher, 48 Wn. App. 373; 739 P.2d 712 (1987)¹²; Highline Sch. Dist. 401 v. Port of Seattle, 87 Wn.2d 6, 15, 548 P.2d 1085 (1976). Affidavits and other extrinsic evidence may not be considered as part of the

¹¹ See for example Op. at 4 considering the testimony of "doctors and industrial hygienists" as well as Mr. Hoffman's own testimony and treating it as "fact" for purposes of whether the PLEADINGS contained allegations sufficient to survive a CR 12(b)(6) motion. Notably, the declarations of the "doctors and industrial hygienists" as well as Mr. Hoffman's deposition testimony were attached to the motions for summary judgment that had previously been filed in the case. ¹² Overruled to the extent that a contract attached to the pleadings is considered part of the pleadings.

pleadings. P.E. Systems, LLC v. CPI Corp., 176 Wn.2d 198, 204,

289 P.3d 638 (2012). Once extrinsic evidence is considered the 12(b)(6) motion shall be converted into a summary judgment motion. *Id.* at 206.

D. The Court of Appeals Determination that a "Possible" Claim for Gross Negligence Could be Used as a Contact for Purposes of a Choice of Law Analysis was Clear Error

The Court of Appeals, after acknowledging that the plaintiffs neither presented evidence of a claim for gross

negligence nor included such an allegation in its Complaint, stated,

Again, considering the 12(b)(6) standard, we conclude that Hoffman has alleged facts when presumed true, support recovery under a 12(b)(6) standard.

(Op. at 14). The Court of Appeals committed clear error in

concluding that allegations in the Complaint could be assumed to

be true to defeat KPC's summary judgment motion. The summary

judgment standard is clear:

In a summary judgment motion, the moving party bears the initial burden of showing the absence of an issue of material fact. If the moving party is a defendant and meets this initial showing, then the inquiry shifts to the party with the burden of proof at trial, the plaintiff. If, at this point, the plaintiff "fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to that party's case, and on which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial", then the trial court should grant the motion...

In making this responsive showing, the nonmoving party cannot rely on the allegations made in its pleadings. CR 56(e) states that the response, "by affidavits or as otherwise provided in this rule, must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial."

Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals, 112 Wn.2d 216, 225-226, 770 P.2d

182 (1989)(citations omitted). Here, the applicability of the exceptions to the Alaska Statute of Repose was adjudicated during a CR 56 hearing. It was clear error to evaluate the trial court's decision utilizing a 12(b)(6) while at the same time electing to consider extrinsic evidence and use such evidence to create favorable inferences from allegations in the complaint.

E. The Court of Appeals Compounded its Error by Using the "Favorable Inferences" from its CR 12(b)(6) Analysis to Reverse the Trial Court's Determination that Alaska Law Governed the Case

ľ

After determining that the allegations of the Complaint could support an assertion of "gross negligence"¹³ the Court of Appeals considered extraneous materials in order to find that the gross negligence exception to the Alaska Statute of Repose might apply. (Op. at 14-15), Nonetheless, the Court of Appeals reasoned, since there might not be a conflict between the Washington and Alaska Statutes of Repose "under a 12(b)(6)standard", it was error for the trial court to dismiss plaintiff's claim. (Op. at 15-16). The problem with the Court of Appeals analysis is that the trial court was not utilizing a 12(b)(6) standard and, under the law, the Court of Appeals was not permitted to do so either. CR 12(b); Sea-Pac Co. v. United Food & Commercial Workers Local Union 44, 103 Wash. 2d 800, 802, 699 P.2d 217, 218 (1985). Moreover, in this particular case, there is clear,

¹³ The Court of Appeals does not explain how allegations of negligence could support a gross negligence claim. Any doubt about that issue should have been resolved by the representation made by plaintiff counsel in briefing and in oral argument that plaintiff's claims sounded in common law negligence.

irrefutable evidence that the trial court and the parties treated KPC and General Electric's original CR 12(b)(6) motion as a summary judgment motion.¹⁴ (VRP, March 24, 2015 at 16; VRP March 25, 2015 at 3).

"Gross negligence" is "negligence substantially and appreciably greater than ordinary negligence," i.e., "care substantially or appreciably less than the quantum of care inhering in ordinary negligence." *Nist v. Tudor*, 67 Wash.2d 322, 331, 407 P.2d 798 (1965); *see* 6 Washington Practice: Washington Pattern Jury Instructions: Civil 10.07 (6th ed.1997) ("gross negligence" is "the failure to exercise slight care."). A plaintiff seeking to prove gross negligence must supply "substantial evidence" that the defendant's act or omission represented care appreciably less than the care inherent in ordinary negligence. *Boyce v. West*, 71 Wn.App. 657, 665, 862 P.2d 592 (1993). To meet this burden of proof on summary judgment, the plaintiff must offer something

¹⁴ This Court's observation that the "parties treated the underlying motion as a 12(b)(6) motion" is both incorrect and of no moment. Once matters outside the pleadings were considered, it became a CR 56 motion. It is obvious that the Court of Appeal misreads those intentions.

more substantial than mere argument that the defendant's breach of care arises to the level of gross negligence. CR56(e); *Boyce*, 71 Wn.App. at 666.

Here, there was no evidence of gross negligence presented to the trial court. Nothing. Not only was no evidence of gross negligence presented, plaintiffs' counsel, in oral argument and in briefing, clearly stated that the claims against KPC sounded in common law negligence. (VRP March 24, 2015 at 8). Gross negligence was not pled nor were facts presented that would have supported such a claim. Furthermore, the Court of Appeals appears to have misunderstood the salient facts in evaluating the issue. This case, as against KPC, involves a claim referred to in asbestos litigation as a "take home exposure," Mr. Doyle Hoffman worked at the KPC mill in the 1950's and 1960's when plaintiff Larry Hoffman was a child. Plaintiffs claim that his father worked with asbestos at KPC and brought it home on his clothing and body thereby exposing Larry Hoffman to asbestos fibers. Fundamental to the Court of Appeal's misunderstanding of the nature of the

5880010.1

claim against KPC is the Court of Appeal's misinterpretation of a KPC Interrogatory Response.¹⁵ Not only is there no basis to conclude from the response that KPC had any knowledge of the danger of take-home exposure to asbestos, the Interrogatory Response was never presented to the trial court. The evidence before the trial court was that gross negligence was never pled and that plaintiffs' counsel asserted on the record that their claim against KPC was a common law negligence claim. "I want to make it clear to the Court, we are pursuing a common law negligence claim against Ketchikan … we claim Ketchikan knew or should have known of this risk." *Id.* That was it. Plaintiffs offered nothing more than the argument of counsel (at a later time) that the gross negligence exception to the statute of repose applied.

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