#### No. 93581-5

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

HOFFMAN, LARRY AND JUDITH, husband and wife,

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

V.

ALASKA COPPER COMPANIES, INC., et al.,

Defendant-Respondents.

# LARRY AND JUDITH HOFFMAN'S ANSWER TO GENERAL ELECTRIC'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

John W. Phillips, WSBA #12185 Michael Madderra, WSBA #48169 Phillips Law Group, PLLC 315 Fifth Avenue South, Suite 1000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 382-6163

Counsel for Plaintiffs-Respondents

##

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

#### II. ARGUMENT

## A. General Electric Offers No Reason Why This Court Should Accept Discretionary Review.

GE's petition fails to address the criteria for this Court's acceptance of discretionary review of the Court of Appeals' unpublished decision in this case. RAP 13(b) provides:

Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review. A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or

- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

GE identifies no conflict in Washington appellate decisions, it fails to identify any constitutional question upon which the Court of Appeals' decision hinges, and there is no "substantial public interest" in the Court of Appeals' conclusion that Alaska and Washington law do not conflict in allowing the Hoffmans' personal injury claim based on exposure to asbestos fibers.

Instead, GE argues that the Court of Appeals was wrong in several respects, none of which meets the criteria for this Court's acceptance of discretionary review. GE argues that the Hoffmans' waived their claims but the record shows otherwise. GE complains that the Court of Appeals turned to persuasive Washington authority when no Alaska case law was on point, but the notion that gaskets are products is hardly novel, and on a CR 12(b)(6) motion, the Hoffmans allegation that GE sold gaskets that were placed in the turbines that exposed Mr. Hoffman to asbestos is more than sufficient. And GE critiques the Court of Appeals' opinion that sufficient facts were alleged to support a claim of gross negligence – as opposed to simple negligence – but that argument is irrelevant on a 12(b)(6) motion to proceed with their claim

Indisputably, Washington courts should follow the

Washington Statute of Repose unless the Alaska Statute of Repose would produce a different result. See Rice v. Dow Chem. Co., 124 Wn.2d 205, 210, 875 P.2d 1213 (1994) (citing Burnside v. Simpson Paper Co., 123 Wn.2d 93, 100-01, 864 P.2d 937 (1994) (Washington courts presumptively apply the law of the forum *unless* a conflict actually exists); Seizer v. Sessions, 132 Wn.2d 642, 648-49, 94 P.2d 261 (1997) (citation omitted). GE concedes that the Washington Statute of Repose does not bar the Hoffmans' claims (CP 1040-41), and the Alaska statute of repose contains eleven explicit and exceptions the 10-year bar. See AS 09.10.055(b)(1)(A-F), (b)(2)-(5) and (c). A number of these exceptions preserve the Hoffmans' claims, in addition to those relied upon by the Court of Appeals. The Court of Appeals did not reach – because it did not need to – these several other legal bases upon which it could have concluded that Washington and Alaska law do not conflict with respect to treatment of the Hoffmans' claim. These additional bases underscore why review here is not warranted.

GE cites Intl. Ass'n of Firefighters, Local 46 v. City of Everett, 146 Wn.2d 29, 42 P.3d 1265 (2002) and Whitesides v. U-Haul Co. of Alaska, 16 P.3d 729 (2001), both of which liberally interpreted laws granting workers greater rights. Neither supports the idea that the Court should construe a statute to eliminate an entire category of personal injury claims – asbestos personal injury claims – when the subject was never even addressed by the Legislature.

- B. Mr. Hoffman Did Not Repudiate His Claim that GE Sold Products, and the Court of Appeals Correctly Concluded that Washington and Alaska Law Do Not Conflict, Because Neither Bars the Hoffmans' Claims Based on Products Sold by GE.
  - 1. The Hoffmans Did Not Waive Their Argument Under the "Products" Exception to Alaska's Statute of Repose.

GE claims that under RAP 2.5, the Hoffmans waived the right to argue the product defects exception, and failed to argue that a GE gasket qualified as a defective product. GE misreads the Rules of Appellate Procedure. Under RAP 1.2(a), this Court construes the rules "liberally" to "promote justice and facilitate the decision of cases on the merits." For that reason, excluding an appellate argument under RAP 2.5(a) is discretionary. See e.g., Obert v. Envtl. Research & Dev. Corp., 112 Wn.2d 323, 333, 771 P.2d 340 (1989) ("[T]he rule precluding consideration of issues not previously raised operates only at the discretion of this court.").

The "issue" raised before the Superior Court was whether the Alaska Statute of Repose bars the Hoffmans' suit. The Hoffmans addressed all the ways in which the statute preserves their claims, Defendants, including GE, argued all the ways they believed the statute bars the Hoffmans' claims, and the Superior Court ruled on each exception that the Hoffmans' argue here. The Hoffmans argued that the exceptions applied because of Mr. Hoffman's exposure to asbestos fibers due to GE's conduct, and GE responded to those arguments. The Hoffmans specifically raised their

argument about GE's sale of gaskets, and those arguments were not evaluated on the basis of sufficiency of evidence because the motion was decided under CR 12(b)(6). RP (Mar. 25, 2015) at 23:21-24; see CP 13-18; CP 2912-13; see also CP 1252, 1254, 1175, 1177, 1179-80. GE complains that trial counsel stated that the product was the "turbines," but the gaskets GE sold were installed <u>in</u> the turbines. See CP 1252, 1254, 1175, 1177, 1179-80. And Mr. Hoffman was exposed to airborne asbestos from the turbines both from his cleanup duties and from direct exposure working near the turbines when they underwent maintenance, including gasket replacement. See CP 299. Excluding an argument on appeal in this circumstance makes no sense at all, and certainly does not justify discretionary review.

The appellate court may consider any argument applied to a specific defendant when the general principles or legal theories were advanced in the Superior Court. See, e.g., State Farm Mut. Auto Ins. Co. v. Amirpanachi, 50 Wn. App. 869, 872 n. 1, 751 P.2d 329, rev. denied, 111 Wn.2d 1012 (1988) (appellants argued "the basic reasoning", allowing the court to review those issues on appeal "despite lack of citation to the crucial case law and treatises."); Newcomer v. Masini, 45 Wn. App. 284, 287, 724 P.2d 1122 (1986) ("Even though the key words 'equitable subrogation' do not expressly appear", the appellate court chose to consider equitable subrogation theory where, on reconsideration, party argued theories of unjust enrichment and equitable indemnity). These authorities

apply here.<sup>2</sup> Thus, there is no conflict with other appellate decisions or appellate procedure, as suggested by GE. Pet. at 8-11. The Hoffmans adequately raised the issue before the Superior Court, and this Court should deny discretionary review.

# 2. The Alaska Statute of Repose Preserves the Hoffmans' Claims Because Mr. Hoffman's Injuries Resulted from a Defective Product.

The "products" exception to Alaska's statute of repose is not confined to "product liability" actions. "[T]he legislature defined 'product' and this definition refers to the tangible thing that causes an injury, not to the legal theory that a plaintiff might use to recover for the injury." *Jones v. Bowie Indus.*, 282 P.3d 316, 338 (Alaska 2012). The bill's sponsor described the "products" exception as "one of the biggest exceptions[.]" Minutes, H. Jud. Comm. Hearing on S.S.H.B. 58, 20th Leg. 1st Sess. (Feb. 21, 1997). Both the statute's plain language and Representative Porter's comments illustrate that the defective product exception should be broadly construed.

GE says that the Hoffmans' waived their argument that GE gaskets were products, and then says that turbines are not products

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Even where an argument could have been made more clearly, this Court will consider arguments advanced at the trial level. *See e.g., Bennett v. Hardy*, 113 Wn.2d 912, 917, 784 P.2d 1258 (1990) ("Plaintiffs may have framed their argument more clearly [on appeal], but so long as they advanced the issue below, thus giving the trial court an opportunity to consider and rule on the relevant authority, the purpose of RAP 2.5 (a) is served[.]").

so the exception does not apply. GE is wrong for a number of reasons. First, the Hoffmans argued – with evidentiary support from the trial court record – the following to the Court of Appeals:

The Hoffmans will demonstrate through fact and expert testimony that the GE turbines that Larry Hoffman worked around . . . contained asbestoscontaining components, including thermal insulation, gaskets, and packing. See e.g., CP 1252, 1254. GE sold gaskets to the Sitka and Ketchikan mills during Larry Hoffman's tenure there. See CP 1175, 1177, 1179-80.

App. Br. at 7. This clearly shows that the Hoffmans properly raised the issue with the Court of Appeals (Opn. at 9, n.8) and presented evidence of sale of GE gaskets, as products, to the trial court.<sup>3</sup> The Hoffmans' trial counsel also argued to the Superior Court that GE "sold gaskets and other materials for use on those turbines. All of that falls within the products exception. So our case against GE is that it's a products case." RP (Mar. 25, 2015) at 23:21-24 (emphases added).

GE's further contention that the gaskets were not products borders on the absurd. Asbestos gaskets are indisputably products, as dozens of cases have held. *E.g.*, *Morgan v. Aurora Pump Co.*,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> GE also alleges that waiver occurred before the Court of Appeals (as to both the defective product and gross negligence exceptions), but ignores the Hoffmans' straightforward explanation that the "issue" raised before the Superior Court was whether the Alaska Statute of Repose bars the Hoffmans' suit. *See* Section II.B, above. The Hoffmans plainly did not waive this claim in their assignments of error. App. Br. at 2.

159 Wn. App. 724, 248 P.3d 1052 (2011) (asbestos-containing gaskets are products under product liability statute).

As the Court of Appeals explained, "we agree with Hoffman because Hoffman has presented some evidence that GE delivered gaskets that could have caused Hoffman's injury." Opn. at 9; see also CP 1252, 1254, 1175, 1177, 1179-80. The Court also stated, "although [GE] disputed whether its turbines would be considered products and vehemently argued that there was no evidence that it manufactured, supplied, or sold thermal asbestos insulation, GE does not say the same about replacement gaskets." Opn. at 12. The Court of Appeals plainly considered – but reasonably rejected – GE's argument that gaskets were not "products" as contemplated by the statutory exception. The Court's opinion should not be disturbed.

GE's second argument, that the "steam turbines were an 'improvement to real property" (Pet. at 6) is beside the point. The Alaska Statute of Repose is not limited to design and construction claims, but addresses all personal injury claims, and it contains numerous exceptions, including a "defective products" exception. The exception (AS 09.10.055(b)(E)) specifically states that a "component part" is a "product." The explicit language of the statute governs here, and none of the out-of-state case law cited by GE involves such a specific and governing statute.

Additionally, while the GE turbines here may have been custom-made, as GE points out (Pet. at 2), the turbines themselves

were removed and re-sold like any other "product" when the mill closed. A number of courts, even when interpreting statutes of repose addressing only "improvements to real property," have concluded that such statutes of repose do not apply to "conveyor belts and other industrial equipment," particularly when the equipment could be disassembled and moved or sold. *See Ervin v. Continental Conveyor & Equipment Co., Inc.*, 674 F. Supp.2d 709, 719-22 (D. S.C. 2009) (gathering cases).

The Alaska Statute of Repose intended the "products" exception to be one of the "biggest exceptions" to the statute of repose, and the Alaska Supreme Court has held it is not limited to "product liability" actions. *See Jones v. Bowie Indus.*, 282 P.3d at 338; Minutes, H. Jud. Comm. Hearing on S.S.H.B. 58, 20th Leg. 1st Sess. (Feb. 21, 1997). Accordingly, both the turbines and the asbestos gaskets that GE sold the mills during the life of the mills are products within the meaning of the statute. Review should be denied.

#### 3. The Court of Appeals Properly Looked to Simonetta and Braaten in Absence of Controlling Alaska Authority

GE takes issue with the Court of Appeals Conflict of Laws analysis (Pet. at 11-17), by "constru[ing] Alaska law using nothing but Washington authorities." Pet. at 13. The Court of Appeals' analysis does not conflict with Washington Conflict of Laws jurisprudence, and GE's misleading argument ignores the Court of

Appeals' rationale. The Court of Appeals employed *Simonetta* and *Braaten* to determine whether a supplier of component parts could be held liable – under a defective products exception – for supplying a defective component part. Opn. at 10-12. The Court explained that Washington's approach was "consistent with Alaska law". Opn. at 10-12 (citing *Burnett v. Covell*, 191 P.3d 985, 987-88 (Alaska 2008). GE cites no authority suggesting that the Court of Appeals erroneously utilized Washington authority as persuasive to interpret Alaska substantive law.

There is no "fundamental issue at stake" implicating either the Due Process Clause or Full Faith and Credit Clause. *See* Pet. at 13. Under both the Washington and Alaska statutes of repose, the Hoffmans' claims are preserved. *See* Section II.A, above. GE argues that "determining Alaska law based solely upon Washington law – is constitutionally impermissible," but GE ignores that a conflict of laws analysis focuses on whether the application of a different States' law will affect the outcome. *Seizer*, 132 Wn.2d at 648-49.

GE also facetiously argues that "plywood, or nails, or perhaps concrete blocks" would be included within the "products" exception, such that the statute of repose would be "swallow[ed] up" by the defective products exception. Pet. at 16-17. This argument asks the Court to ignore the specific facts alleged by the Hoffmans and to address irrelevant questions of statutory interpretation that are better

addressed by the Alaska Legislature. The Hoffmans will present evidence that the turbines, when sold, contained asbestos packing and gaskets and that GE also sold asbestos gaskets to the mills for the purpose of turbine maintenance. *See* CP 1162, 201-02, 214-18, 225-26, 2236, 299, 1175, 1177, 1179-80, 1251-52, 1254. The Court of Appeals correctly determined that a CR 12(b)(6) dismissal was inappropriate in light of the facts alleged.

### C. The Court of Appeal Decision Sustaining the Gross Negligence Claim Was Correct And Also is Supported By Several Alternative Legal Bases That the Court of Appeals Did Not Need to Reach.

The Court of Appeals also determined that the Hoffmans asserted sufficient facts, under a CR 12(b)(6) standard, for gross negligence. Opn. at 13-16. GE presents no tenable reason to reverse that ruling. And while the Court of Appeals did not address the Hoffmans' argument that prolonged exposure to hazardous waste and the presence of asbestos foreign bodies constituted additional exceptions to the Alaska Statute of Repose (Opn. at 9, n.7), both exceptions apply here and provide additional legal grounds why this Court should deny GE's petition for review.

# 1. The Alaska Statute of Repose Preserves the Hoffmans' Claims Because GE Was Grossly Negligent.

GE claims that this exception cannot apply because the Hoffmans waived the issue of "gross negligence" (Pet. at 17-18), the Hoffmans allegedly don't have evidence of "gross negligence," and

the Hoffmans pled negligence only. GE Opp. at 38-40. As for GE's first point, it forgets that the Court reviewed the grant of a CR 12(b)(6) motion, not a summary judgment motion. In any event, the Hoffmans' disclosed a "state of the art" expert, Dr. Castleman, who is prepared to testify that GE knew of the deadly nature of asbestos fiber inhalation long before Mr. Hoffman's suffered his deadly exposures, yet did nothing about it to protect the safety of those exposed to asbestos fibers, such as Mr. Hoffman. RP (Mar. 24, 2015) at 20:15-21:10. That evidence is not before the Court on a CR 12(b)(6) motion, and this Court is no position to evaluate it on discretionary review. The Court of Appeals decision thus did not conflict with any of the decisions cited by GE. See Pet. at 17.

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